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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1.    Financial Statements 

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

(in millions, except per share data) 

(unaudited) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Revenue  $ 251.0 $ 426.3 
Operating expenses:        
 Compensation and related expenses   119.2  179.5 
 Selling, general and administrative   45.3  87.5 
 Amortization of intangible assets   8.9  22.1 
 Depreciation and other amortization   3.0  3.8 
 Other operating expenses   6.1  8.5 
      

  182.5  301.4 
      

Operating income   68.5  124.9 
      

Non-operating (income) and expenses:        
 Investment and other income   (2.8)  (8.7)
 Income from equity method investments   (9.1)  (10.2)
 Investment income from investments in partnerships   (4.1)  — 
 Interest expense   16.0  19.4 
 Imputed interest expense   3.8  8.3 
      

  3.8  8.8 
      

Income before income taxes   64.7  116.1 
Income taxes   11.9  26.7 
      

Net income   52.8  89.4 
Net income (non-controlling interests)   (31.3)  (50.3)
Net income (non-controlling interests in partnerships)   (4.0)  — 
      

Net Income (controlling interest)  $ 17.5 $ 39.1 
  

 
 

 
 

Average shares outstanding—basic   42.4  51.8 
Average shares outstanding—diluted   45.4  53.1 

Earnings per share—basic  $ 0.41 $ 0.76 
Earnings per share—diluted  $ 0.38 $ 0.74 
Supplemental disclosure of total comprehensive income:        
Net income  $ 52.8 $ 89.4 
Other comprehensive income   25.4  11.4 
      

Comprehensive income   78.2  100.8 

Comprehensive income (non-controlling interests)   (35.3)  (50.3)
      

Comprehensive income (controlling interest)  $ 42.9 $ 50.5 
  

 
 

 
 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in millions) 

(unaudited) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,

2010  
March 31,

2011  
Assets        
Current assets:        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 313.3 $ 252.8 
 Investment advisory fees receivable   236.4  231.2 
 Investments in marketable securities   116.0  110.3 
 Unsettled fund share receivables   42.0  103.8 
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets   61.7  83.5 
      

  Total current assets   769.4  781.6 

Fixed assets, net   67.7  66.0 
Equity investments in Affiliates   678.9  622.7 
Acquired client relationships, net   1,424.2  1,409.6 
Goodwill   2,131.2  2,142.6 
Other assets   219.8  236.8 
      

  Total assets  $ 5,291.2 $ 5,259.3 
  

 
 

 
 

Liabilities and Equity        
Current liabilities:        
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 252.8 $ 207.3 
 Unsettled fund share payables   39.8  95.3 
 Payables to related party   114.8  80.5 
      

  Total current liabilities   407.4  383.1 

Senior debt   460.0  340.0 
Senior convertible securities   422.1  425.5 
Junior convertible trust preferred securities   509.9  510.5 
Deferred income taxes   495.4  502.9 
Other long-term liabilities   207.8  215.0 
      

  Total liabilities   2,502.6  2,377.0 
Redeemable non-controlling interests   406.3  531.2 

Equity:        
 Common stock   0.5  0.5 
 Additional paid-in capital   980.5  854.6 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income   100.5  111.9 
 Retained earnings   1,011.8  1,050.9 
      

  2,093.3  2,017.9 
 Less: treasury stock, at cost   (293.3)  (256.7)
      

  Total equity   1,800.0  1,761.2 
 

Non-controlling interests   582.3  589.9 
      

 Total equity   2,382.3  2,351.1 
      

 Total liabilities and equity  $ 5,291.2 $ 5,259.3 
  

 
 

 
 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(in millions) 

(unaudited) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  Total Stockholders' Equity      

  
Common

Stock  

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)  

Retained
Earnings  

Treasury
Shares at

Cost  

Non-
controlling

interests  
Total

Equity  
December 31, 2010  $ 0.5 $ 980.5 $ 100.5 $ 1,011.8 $ (293.3) $ 582.3 $ 2,382.3 
Stock issued under option and other incentive

plans   —  (21.5)  —  —  36.6  —  15.1 
Tax benefit of option exercises   —  5.7  —  —  —  —  5.7 
Changes in Affiliate equity   —  (117.6)  —  —  —  26.8  (90.8)
Share-based payment arrangements   —  7.5  —  —  —  —  7.5 
Distributions to non-controlling interests   —  —  —  —  —  (69.5)  (69.5)
Net Income   —  —  —  39.1  —  50.3  89.4 
Other comprehensive income   —  —  11.4  —  —  —  11.4 
                

March 31, 2011  $ 0.5 $ 854.6 $ 111.9 $ 1,050.9 $ (256.7) $ 589.9 $ 2,351.1 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in millions) 

(unaudited) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Cash flow from operating activities:        
 Net income  $ 52.8 $ 89.4 
Adjustments to reconcile Net income to net cash flow from operating activities:        
 Amortization of intangible assets   8.9  22.1 
 Amortization of issuance costs   1.8  2.6 
 Depreciation and other amortization   3.0  3.8 
 Deferred income tax provision   8.6  9.6 
 Imputed interest expense   3.8  8.3 
 Income from equity method investments, net of amortization   (9.1)  (10.2)
 Distributions received from equity method investments   23.2  64.9 
 Tax benefit from exercise of stock options   0.3  0.8 
 Stock option expense   3.6  6.1 
 Affiliate equity expense   3.4  3.5 
 Other adjustments   (4.0)  (5.6)
Changes in assets and liabilities:        
 (Increase) decrease in investment advisory fees receivable   (0.9)  3.0 
 (Increase) decrease in prepaids and other current assets   11.0  (2.5)
 Increase in unsettled fund shares receivable   (98.7)  (60.7)
 Increase in other assets   (11.1)  (2.9)
 Decrease in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities   (37.0)  (56.5)
 Increase in unsettled fund shares payable   108.4  54.5 
      

  Cash flow from operating activities   68.0  130.2 
      

Cash flow used in investing activities:        
 Investments in Affiliates   (127.7)  (13.3)
 Purchase of fixed assets   (1.1)  (1.7)
 Purchase of investment securities   (14.9)  (9.1)
 Sale of investment securities   11.8  12.0 
      

  Cash flow used in investing activities   (131.9)  (12.1)
      

Cash flow from (used in) financing activities:        
 Borrowings of senior bank debt   235.0  — 
 Repayments of senior bank debt   (65.0)  (120.0)
 Issuance of common stock   2.5  15.2 
 Issuance costs   (0.1)  (7.7)
 Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options   0.4  4.9 
 Settlement of treasury lock   —  4.0 
 Note payments   (25.4)  0.1 
 Distributions to non-controlling interests   (37.2)  (69.5)
 Affiliate equity issuances and repurchases   (102.6)  (7.8)
      

  Cash flow from (used in) financing activities   7.6  (180.8)
      

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   0.6  2.2 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (55.7)  (60.5)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   259.5  313.3 
      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 203.8 $ 252.8 
  

 
 

 
 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:        
 Notes received for Affiliate equity sales  $ 5.7 $ 9.5 
 Payables recorded for Affiliate equity purchases   15.3  7.0 
 Payables recorded under contingent payment arrangements   49.0  — 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1.     Basis of Presentation

        The consolidated financial statements of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. ("AMG" or the "Company") have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of
Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America for complete financial statements. The year-end condensed balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all of
the disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered
necessary for a fair statement of the results have been included. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Certain reclassifications have
been made to the prior period's financial statements to conform to the current period's presentation. Operating results for interim periods are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for any other period or for the full year. The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010 includes additional information about AMG, its operations, financial position and accounting policies, and should be read in conjunction with
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

        All dollar and share amounts in these notes (except information that is presented on a per share, per security, per note or per contract basis) are stated in
millions, unless otherwise indicated.

        There are no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material effect on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.     Senior Bank Debt

        The Company entered into an amended and restated revolving credit facility (the "credit facility") in January 2011, which allows for borrowings of up to
$750.0 million at specified rates of interest that vary depending on the Company's credit ratings. Subject to the agreement of the lenders to provide incremental
commitments and subject to certain requirements in the credit facility, the Company has the option to increase the credit facility by up to an additional
$150.0 million.

        The credit facility, which will mature in January 2015, is unsecured and contains financial covenants with respect to leverage and interest coverage and also
contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on indebtedness, liens, cash dividends, asset dispositions and fundamental corporate
changes. Obligations under the credit facility are guaranteed by certain of the Company's wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries in accordance with the terms of the
credit facility. At March 31, 2011, the Company had $340.0 million of outstanding borrowings.

        As further described in Note 15, the Company has entered into interest rate swap contracts to exchange a fixed rate for the variable rate on a portion of its
credit facility.

3.     Convertible Securities

        At March 31, 2011, the Company has one senior convertible security outstanding ("2008 senior convertible notes") and two junior convertible trust preferred
securities outstanding, issued in 2006 (the
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

"2006 junior convertible trust preferred securities") and in 2007 (the "2007 junior convertible trust preferred securities"). The carrying values of the Company's
convertible securities are as follows:

        The principal terms of these securities are summarized below.
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  December 31, 2010  March 31, 2011  

  
Carrying

Value  
Principal amount

at maturity  
Carrying

Value  
Principal amount

at maturity  
Senior convertible securities:              
 2008 senior convertible notes(1)  $ 422.1 $ 460.0 $ 425.5 $ 460.0 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Junior convertible trust preferred securities:              
 2007 junior convertible trust preferred securities(1)  $ 296.3 $ 430.8 $ 296.6 $ 430.8 
 2006 junior convertible trust preferred securities(1)   213.6  300.0  213.9  300.0 
          

 Total junior convertible securities  $ 509.9 $ 730.8 $ 510.5 $ 730.8 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) Carrying value is accreted to the principal amount at maturity over an expected life of five years for the 2008 senior convertible notes and
30 years for each of the junior convertible trust preferred securities.

  

2008
Senior

Convertible
Notes(1)  

2007 Junior
Convertible

Trust Preferred
Securities(2)  

2006 Junior
Convertible

Trust Preferred
Securities(3)  

Issue Date   August 2008  October 2007  April 2006 
Maturity Date   August 2038  October 2037  April 2036 
Next Potential Put Date   August 2013  N/A  N/A 
Note Denomination  $ 1,000 $ 50 $ 50 
Current Conversion Rate   7.959  0.250  0.333 
Current Conversion Price  $ 125.65 $ 200.00 $ 150.00 
Stated Coupon   3.95% 5.15% 5.10%
Coupon Frequency   Semi-annually  Quarterly  Quarterly 
Tax Deduction Rate(4)   9.38% 8.00% 7.50%

(1) The Company may redeem the notes for cash (subject to the holders right to convert) at any time on or after August 15,
2013. 

(2) The Company may redeem the 2007 junior convertible trust preferred securities on or after October 15, 2012 if the
closing price of the Company's common stock exceeds $260 per share for a specified period of time. 

(3) The Company may redeem the 2006 junior convertible trust preferred securities on or after April 15, 2011 if the closing
price of the Company's common stock exceeds $195 per share for a specified period of time. 

(4) These convertible securities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under federal income tax regulations,
which require the Company to deduct interest in an amount greater than its reported interest expense. These deductions
result in annual deferred tax liabilities of approximately $22.5 million. These deferred tax liabilities will be



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4.     Forward Equity Sale Agreements

        During 2009, the Company entered into a forward equity sale agreement with a major securities firm to sell shares of its common stock, and extended this
agreement in April 2011. As of March 31, 2011, no forward equity sales are outstanding. The Company may sell up to an additional $103.5 million under this
agreement.

5.     Income Taxes

        The consolidated income tax provision includes taxes attributable to controlling interests and, to a lesser extent, taxes attributable to non-controlling interests
as follows:
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reclassified directly to stockholders' equity if the Company's common stock is trading above certain thresholds at the time
of the conversion of the securities.

  
For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Controlling Interests:        
 Current Tax  $ 2.5 $ 13.5 
 Intangible related deferred taxes   10.7  12.9 
 Other Deferred Taxes   (2.1)  (2.8)
      

  Total Controlling Interests  $ 11.1 $ 23.6 
      

Non-Controlling Interests:        
 Current Tax  $ 0.8 $ 3.6 
 Deferred Taxes   —  (0.5)
      

  Total Non-Controlling Interests   0.8  3.1 
      

Provision for income taxes  $ 11.9 $ 26.7 
  

 
 

 
 

Income before income taxes (controlling interest)  $ 28.6 $ 62.7 
  

 
 

 
 

Effective Tax rate attributable to controlling interests(1)   38.8% 37.6%

(1) Taxes attributable to controlling interests divided by Income before income taxes (controlling interest).



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

        A summary of the consolidated provision for income taxes is as follows:

        The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

        Deferred tax liabilities are primarily the result of tax deductions for the Company's intangible assets and convertible securities. The Company amortizes most
of its intangible assets for tax purposes only, reducing its tax basis below its carrying value for financial statement purposes and generating deferred taxes each
reporting period. The Company's 2008 senior convertible notes and junior convertible trust preferred securities also generate deferred taxes because the
Company's tax deductions are higher than the interest expense recorded for financial statement purposes.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Current:        
 Federal  $ (0.8) $ 6.1 
 State   1.2  3.1 
 Foreign   2.9  7.9 
      

Total Current   3.3  17.1 
      

Deferred:        
 Federal   7.9  11.3 
 State   1.2  0.7 
 Foreign   (0.5)  (2.4)
      

Total Deferred   8.6  9.6 
      

Provision for Income Taxes  $ 11.9 $ 26.7 
  

 
 

 
 

  
December 31,

2010  
March 31,

2011  
Deferred Tax Assets        
 State net operating loss carryforwards  $ 30.6 $ 29.6 
 Foreign tax credit carryforwards   17.3  19.1 
 Deferred compensation   10.3  11.7 
 Accrued expenses   8.5  10.3 
 Capital loss carryforwards   1.5  1.5 
      

Total deferred tax assets   68.2  72.2 
Valuation allowance   (27.6)  (26.7)
      

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance  $ 40.6 $ 45.5 
      

Deferred Tax Liabilities        
 Intangible asset amortization  $ (209.3) $ (218.9)
 Convertible securities interest   (154.5)  (158.5)
 Non-deductible intangible amortization   (143.1)  (143.5)
 Deferred revenue   (26.3)  (24.8)
 Other   (2.8)  (2.7)
      

Total deferred tax liabilities   (536.0)  (548.4)
      

 Net deferred tax liability  $ (495.4) $ (502.9)
  

 
 

 
 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

        At March 31, 2011, the Company has state net operating loss carryforwards that expire over a 15-year period beginning in 2011. The Company also has
foreign tax credit carryforwards that expire over a 10-year period beginning in 2011. The valuation allowances at December 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011 were
principally related to the Company's ability to generate sufficient taxable income prior to the expiration of these carryforwards.

        At March 31, 2011, the Company's liability for uncertain tax positions was $24.6 million, including interest and related charges of $3.0 million. Over the
next twelve months, as a result of state and foreign tax audits, unrecognized tax benefits on uncertain tax positions could increase by $1.0 to $3.0 million.

6.     Earnings Per Share

        The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of the Company's common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share is similar to basic earnings per share, but adjusts for the dilutive effect of the potential issuance of incremental shares of the
Company's common stock. The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
available to common stockholders.

        As more fully discussed in Note 3, the Company had convertible securities outstanding during the periods presented and is required to apply the if-converted
method to these securities in its calculation of diluted earnings per share. Under the if-converted method, shares that are issuable upon conversion are deemed
outstanding, regardless of whether the securities are contractually convertible into the Company's common stock at that time. For this calculation, the interest
expense (net of tax) attributable to these dilutive securities is added back to Net Income (controlling interest), reflecting the assumption that the securities have
been converted. Issuable shares for these securities and related interest expense are excluded from the calculation if an assumed conversion would be anti-dilutive
to diluted earnings per share.

        The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011 excludes the potential exercise of options to purchase
1.3 million and 0.6 million shares of common stock, respectively, because the effect would be anti-dilutive.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Numerator:        
Net Income (controlling interest)  $ 17.5 $ 39.1 
Interest expense on convertible securities, net of taxes   0.0  — 
      

Net Income (controlling interest), as adjusted  $ 17.5 $ 39.1 
  

 
 

 
 

Denominator:        
Average shares outstanding—basic   42.4  51.8 
Effect of dilutive instruments:        
 Stock options   0.9  1.3 
 Forward sale   1.3  — 
 Senior convertible securities   0.8  — 
      

Average shares outstanding—diluted   45.4  53.1 
  

 
 

 
 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

        As discussed further in Note 18, the Company may settle portions of its Affiliate equity purchases in shares of its common stock. Because it is the
Company's intent to settle these potential repurchases in cash, the calculation of diluted earnings per share excludes any potential dilutive effect from possible
share settlements.

7.     Commitments and Contingencies

        The Company and its Affiliates are subject to claims, legal proceedings and other contingencies in the ordinary course of their business activities. Each of
these matters is subject to various uncertainties, and it is possible that some of these matters may be resolved in a manner unfavorable to the Company or its
Affiliates. The Company and its Affiliates establish accruals for matters for which the outcome is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Management
believes that any liability in excess of these accruals upon the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial statements of operations of the Company.

        Certain Affiliates operate under regulatory authorities which require that they maintain minimum financial or capital requirements. Management is not aware
of any material violations of such financial requirements.

        In connection with its investment in Pantheon Ventures, the Company has committed to co-invest in certain investment partnerships where it serves as the
general partner. As of March 31, 2011, these commitments totaled approximately $98.6 million and may be called in future periods. Russell Investments
(Pantheon Ventures former owner) is contractually obligated to reimburse the Company for $69.6 million of these commitments when they are called.

        Under past acquisition agreements, the Company is contingently liable, upon achievement of specified financial targets, to make payments of up to
$496.5 million through 2015. In 2011, the Company expects to make payments of approximately $1.4 million to settle portions of these contingent obligations.

8.     Investments in Partnerships

        As of December 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011, the Affiliates' investments in partnerships that are not consolidated were $106.1 million and $121.9 million,
respectively. These assets are reported within "Other assets" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The income or loss related to these investments is classified
within "Investment and other income" in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

9.     Investments in Marketable Securities

        Investments in marketable securities are comprised of the Company's 2009 and 2010 investments in Value Partners Group Limited, a publicly-traded asset
management firm based in Hong Kong, and investments held by Affiliates. These investments are carried at their fair value. Changes in fair value for securities
classified as available-for-sale are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value for trading securities are reported within other
operating expenses. The cost of investments in marketable securities, gross unrealized gains and losses were as follows:
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December 31,

2010  
March 31,

2011  
Cost of investments in marketable securities  $ 68.9 $ 63.0 
Gross unrealized gains   47.1  47.3 
Gross unrealized losses   —  — 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

10.   Unsettled Fund Share Receivables and Payables

        Unsettled fund share receivables and payables are created by the normal settlement periods on transactions initiated by certain clients of Affiliate funds
domiciled in the United Kingdom. The gross presentation of the receivable and offsetting payable reflects the legal relationship between the underlying investor
and the Company.

11.   Fair Value Measurements

        The Company determines the fair value of certain investment securities and other financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities. Fair value is determined
based on the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the most advantageous market, utilizing a hierarchy of three different
valuation techniques:

Level 1—Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active markets;

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and
model-derived valuations whose inputs, or significant value drivers, are observable; and

Level 3—Prices reflecting the Company's own assumptions concerning unobservable inputs to the valuation model. These inputs require significant
management judgment and reflect the Company's estimation of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

        The following table summarizes the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
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 Fair Value Measurements

 
 

 
December 31,

2010
 

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Financial Assets              
 Cash equivalents  $ 36.0 $ 36.0 $ — $ — 
 Partnership investments(1)   124.5  16.9  21.8  85.8 
 Investments in marketable securities(2)              
  Trading securities   15.4  15.2  0.2  — 
  Available for sale securities   100.6  99.2  1.4  — 
 Interest rate derivatives   5.9  —  5.9  — 

Financial Liabilities              
 Contingent payment obligations(3)  $ 84.0 $ — $ — $ 84.0 
 Obligations to related parties   79.6  —  —  79.6 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

        The following is a description of the significant assets and liabilities measured at fair value and the fair value methodologies used.

        Cash equivalents consist primarily of highly liquid investments in money market funds. Cash investments in actively traded money market funds are
classified as Level 1.

        Partnership investments consist of investments in funds advised by Affiliates and are valued using net asset value ("NAV"). Investments in actively traded
funds that calculate daily NAVs are classified as Level 1. Investments in non-public funds that hold investments with observable market prices are classified as
Level 2. Investments in funds that hold illiquid securities or that are subject to redemption restrictions are classified as Level 3. The fair value of Level 3 assets
was determined using NAV one quarter in arrears (adjusted for current period calls and distributions).

        Investments in marketable securities consist primarily of investments in funds advised by Affiliates which are valued using NAV and in publicly traded
securities. Investments in actively traded funds that calculate daily NAVs and actively traded public securities are classified as Level 1. Investments in non-public
funds that hold investments with observable market prices are classified as Level 2.

        Interest rate derivatives include Treasury rate lock contracts and interest rate swaps at December 31, 2010 and only interest rate swaps at March 31, 2011.
The fair value of these assets was determined by model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs were observable in active markets.

        Contingent payment obligations represents the present value of the expected future settlement of contingent payment arrangements related to the Company's
business combinations. The fair value of these obligations is determined using an income approach with assumptions made about future cash flows and discount
rates.

        Obligations to related parties include agreements to repurchase Affiliate equity and liabilities offsetting certain investments which are held by the Company
but economically attributable to a related party. The fair value of the agreements to repurchase Affiliate equity is determined using an income approach with
assumptions made about future cash flows and discount rates. The liability to a related
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March 31,

2011  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Financial Assets              
 Cash equivalents  $ 14.6 $ 14.6 $ — $ — 
 Partnership investments(1)   152.8  27.9  31.3  93.6 
 Investments in marketable securities(2)              
  Trading securities   16.0  16.0  —  — 
  Available for sale securities   94.3  94.3  —  — 
 Interest rate derivatives   3.0  —  3.0  — 

Financial Liabilities              
 Contingent payment obligations(3)  $ 89.4 $ — $ — $ 89.4 
 Obligations to related parties   67.9  —  —  67.9 

(1) Partnerships investments are reported within "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and "Other assets" on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. 

(2) Principally investments in equity securities. 

(3) Contingent payment obligations are reported in "Other long-term liabilities."
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

party is measured based upon certain investments held by the Company, the fair value of which is determined using NAV.

        The following table presents the changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011:

 

        During the three months ended March 31, 2010, financial assets valued at $3.7 million transferred from Level 3 to Level 2. No such transfers occurred
during the three months ended March 31, 2011. In addition, there were no significant transfers of financial assets or liabilities between Level 2 and Level 1 in
either period.

        As a practical expedient, the Company relies on the NAV of certain investments as their fair value. The NAVs that have been provided by the investees have
been derived from the fair values of the underlying investments as of the measurement dates. The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2010 and
March 31, 2011, the nature of these investments and any related liquidation restrictions or other factors which may impact the ultimate value realized:
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  Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value  

Three Months Ended March 31, 2010  

Balance,
beginning of

period  
Net realized
gains/losses  

Net unrealized
gains/losses
relating to

instruments
still held at the
reporting date  

Purchases and
issuances  

Settlements
and

reductions  

Net transfers
in and/or out

of Level 3  

Balance,
end of
period  

Partnership investments  $ 4.0 $ —(1) $ —(1) $ — $ — $ (3.7) $ 0.3 
Contingent payment obligations   27.1  —(2)  —(2)  49.1  (27.1)  —  49.1 
Obligations to related parties   78.7  (0.2)(3)  —(3)  15.3  (78.5)  —  15.3 

  Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value  

Three Months Ended March 31, 2011  

Balance,
beginning of

period  
Net realized
gains/losses  

Net unrealized
gains/losses
relating to

instruments
still held at the
reporting date  

Purchases and
issuances  

Settlements
and

reductions  

Net transfers
in and/or out

of Level 3  

Balance,
end of
period  

Partnership investments  $ 85.8 $ 1.1(1) $ 5.6(1) $ 2.8 $ (1.7) $ — $ 93.6 
Contingent payment obligations   84.0  —(2)  5.4(2)  —  —  —  89.4 
Obligations to related parties   79.6  0.3(3)  2.5(3)  9.6  (24.1)  —  67.9 

(1) Recorded in "Investment and other income" and "Investment (income) loss from investments in partnerships." 

(2) Recorded in "Imputed interest expense" and "Other comprehensive income." 

(3) Recorded in "Interest expense" and "Investment and other income."

  December 31, 2010  March 31, 2011  

Category of Investment  Fair Value  
Unfunded

Commitments  Fair Value  
Unfunded

Commitments  

Private equity fund-of-funds(1)  $ 85.7 $ 89.2 $ 93.6 $ 98.6 
Other funds(2)   55.2  —  64.0  — 
          

 $ 140.9 $ 89.2 $ 157.6 $ 98.6 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) These funds primarily invest in a broad range of private equity funds, as well as making direct investments. Distributions will be received
as the underlying assets are liquidated over the life of the funds, generally 15 years.
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        There are no current plans to sell any of these investments.

        The carrying amount of the Company's cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of these
instruments. The carrying value of notes receivable approximates fair value because interest rates and other terms of the notes are at market rates. The carrying
value of notes payable approximates fair value principally because of the short-term nature of the notes. The carrying value of senior bank debt approximates fair
value because the debt is a credit facility with variable interest based on selected short-term rates. The fair market value of the 2008 senior convertible notes and
the junior convertible trust preferred securities at March 31, 2011 was $542.8 million and $664.0 million, respectively.

12.   Variable Interest Entities

Sponsored Investment Funds

        The Company's Affiliates act as the investment manager for certain investment funds that are considered variable interest entities ("VIEs"). In addition to an
Affiliate's involvement as the investment manager, Affiliates may also hold investments in these products. Affiliates are not the primary beneficiary of these VIEs
as their involvement is limited to that of a service provider and their investment, if any, represents an insignificant interest in the fund's assets under management.
As a result, the Company's variable interests will not absorb the majority of the variability of the entity's net assets and therefore the Company has not
consolidated these entities.

Trust Preferred Vehicles

        The Company established wholly-owned trusts in connection with the 2006 and 2007 issuances of junior convertible trust preferred securities. These entities
are considered VIEs and the Company is not the primary beneficiary, therefore these entities are not consolidated in the Company's financial statements.

        The net assets and liabilities of these unconsolidated VIEs and the Company's maximum risk of loss related thereto are as follows:

13.   Related Party Transactions

        The Company periodically records amounts receivable and payable to Affiliate partners in connection with the transfer of Affiliate equity interests. The
Company also has liabilities to related parties for deferred purchase price and contingent payment obligations in connection with certain business combinations.

        The total receivable as of December 31, 2010 was $42.9 million, which is included in "Other assets." The total receivable as of March 31, 2011 was
$57.0 million, of which $14.3 million is included
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(2) These are multi-disciplinary funds that invest across various asset classes and strategies including long/short equity, credit and real estate.
Investments are generally redeemable on a daily or quarterly basis.

  December 31, 2010  March 31, 2011  

  
Unconsolidated
VIE Net Assets  

Carrying Value and
Maximum Exposure

to Loss  
Unconsolidated
VIE Net Assets  

Carrying Value and
Maximum Exposure

to Loss  
Sponsored investment funds  $ 3,350.7 $ 0.9 $ 3,524.6 $ 0.8 
Trust preferred vehicles   9.0  9.0  9.0  9.0 



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
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in "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and $42.7 million is included in "Other assets." The total payable as of December 31, 2010 was $183.0 million, of
which $114.8 million is included in "Payables to related party" and $68.2 million is included in "Other long-term liabilities." The total payable as of March 31,
2011 was $147.6 million, of which $80.5 million is included in "Payables to related party" and $67.1 million is included in "Other long-term liabilities."

        In certain cases, Affiliate management owners and Company officers may serve as trustees or directors of certain mutual funds from which the Affiliate
earns advisory fee revenue.

14.   Stock Option and Incentive Plans

        The following summarizes the transactions of the Company's stock option and incentive plans for the three months ended March 31, 2011:

        The Company's Net Income (controlling interest) for the three months ended March 31, 2011 includes compensation expense of $3.8 million (net of income
tax benefits of $2.3 million related to the Company's Stock Option and Incentive, Long-Term Executive Incentive, Long-Term Equity Incentive and Deferred
Compensation Plans). As of March 31, 2011, the Company expects to recognize compensation expense related to these share-based compensation arrangements
of $69.7 million over a weighted average period of approximately three years (assuming no forfeitures). As of March 31, 2011, no outstanding options have
expiration dates prior to the end of 2011.

15.   Derivative Financial Instruments

        The Company periodically uses derivative contracts to manage interest rate exposure associated with its variable interest rate debt.

        In 2010, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements as summarized in the table below:
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  Stock Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)  

Unexercised options outstanding—January 1, 2011   5.1 $ 62.34    
 Options granted   —  —    
 Options exercised   (0.3)  48.03    
 Options forfeited   —  —    
          

Unexercised options outstanding—March 31, 2011   4.8  63.27  4.9 
  

 
       

Exercisable at March 31, 2011   2.4  58.49  4.0 

  
Notional
Amount  Paying  Receiving  Start Date  Expiration Date

Counterparty A  $ 25.0  1.67% 3-Month LIBOR  October 2010 October 2015
Counterparty A  $ 25.0  1.65% 3-Month LIBOR  October 2010 October 2015
Counterparty B  $ 25.0  1.59% 3-Month LIBOR  October 2010 October 2015
Counterparty B  $ 25.0  2.14% 3-Month LIBOR  October 2010 October 2017
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        In November of 2010, the Company entered into a series of treasury rate lock contracts with a total notional value of $100.0 million which were settled in
February 2011 for a net pre-tax gain of $4.0 million (each contract was designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge). These contracts were intended to hedge
the risks associated with changes in interest rates on a fixed-rate debt issuance that is anticipated to occur prior to June 2012. The gain on these contracts is
reflected as a component of other comprehensive income and will be recognized as a deduction to interest expense over the life of the expected fixed rate debt
issuance, or recorded as other income in the event the Company determines that it is not probable it will issue fixed rate debt prior to the third quarter of 2012.

        Certain of the Company's derivative contracts contain provisions that may require the Company or the counterparties to post collateral based upon the
current fair value of the derivative contracts. As of March 31, 2011, the Company was not required to post collateral.

        The Company records all derivative instruments on the balance sheet at fair value. As cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the unrealized gain or loss
on the derivative instruments is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Hedge effectiveness is
measured by comparing the present value of the cumulative change in the expected future variable cash flows of the hedged contract with the present value of the
cumulative change in the expected future variable cash flows of the hedged item. To the extent that the critical terms of the hedged item and the derivative are not
identical, hedge ineffectiveness would be reported in earnings as interest expense. Hedge ineffectiveness was not material in any periods presented. As of
March 31, 2011, the unrealized gain (before taxes) on the derivative instruments was $3.0 million. The Company does not expect to reclassify any material
portion of the unrealized gain into earnings in the next twelve months.

        The following summarizes the location and amount of derivative instrument gains and losses (before taxes) reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Income:

        The following summarizes the location and fair values of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets:
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Amount of Gain
Recognized in Other

Comprehensive Income  

  
For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Cash Flow Hedges        
Interest rate swaps  $ — $ 0.6 
Treasury rate locks   —  0.5 
      

Total  $ — $ 1.1 
  

 
 

 
 

  
December 31,

2010  
March 31,

2011  
Cash Flow Hedges        
Interest rate swaps(1)  $ 2.5 $ 3.0 
Treasury rate locks(1)   3.4  — 
      

Total  $ 5.9 $ 3.0 
  

 
 

 
 

(1) Recorded in "Other assets."
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        The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Interest rate swaps and treasury locks are intended to enable the
Company to achieve a level of variable-rate and fixed-rate debt that is acceptable to management and to limit interest rate exposure.

16.   Segment Information

        Management has assessed and determined that the Company operates in three business segments representing the Company's three principal distribution
channels: Mutual Fund, Institutional and High Net Worth, each of which has different client relationships.

        Revenue in the Mutual Fund distribution channel is earned from advisory and sub-advisory relationships with all domestically-registered investment
products as well as non-institutional investment products that are registered abroad.

        Revenue in the Institutional distribution channel is earned from relationships with foundations and endowments, defined benefit and defined contribution
plans and Taft-Hartley plans. Revenue in the High Net Worth distribution channel is earned from relationships with high net worth individuals, family trusts and
managed account programs.

        Revenue earned from client relationships managed by Affiliates accounted for under the equity method is not consolidated with the Company's reported
revenue but instead is included (net of operating expenses, including amortization) in "Income from equity method investments," and reported in the distribution
channel in which the Affiliate operates. Income tax attributable to the profits of the Company's equity-method Affiliates is reported within the Company's
consolidated income tax provision.

        In firms with revenue sharing arrangements, a certain percentage of revenue is allocated for use by management of an Affiliate in paying operating expenses
of that Affiliate, including salaries and bonuses, and is called an "Operating Allocation." In reporting segment operating expenses, Affiliate expenses are allocated
to a particular segment on a pro rata basis with respect to the revenue generated by that Affiliate in such segment. Generally, as revenue increases, additional
compensation is typically paid to Affiliate management partners from the Operating Allocation. As a result, the contractual expense allocation pursuant to a
revenue sharing arrangement may result in the characterization of any growth in profit margin beyond the Company's Owners' Allocation as an operating
expense. All other operating expenses (excluding intangible amortization) and interest expense have been allocated to segments based on the proportion of cash
flow distributions reported by Affiliates in each segment.

18



AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Statements of Income
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  For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2010  
  Mutual Fund  Institutional  High Net Worth  Total  
Revenue  $ 97.9 $ 121.8 $ 31.3 $ 251.0 
Operating expenses:              
 Depreciation and other amortization   2.2  7.4  2.3  11.9 
 Other operating expenses   66.7  83.4  20.5  170.6 
          

  68.9  90.8  22.8  182.5 
          

Operating income   29.0  31.0  8.5  68.5 
          

Non-operating (income) and expenses:              
 Investment and other income   (0.8)  (1.3)  (0.7)  (2.8)
 Income from equity method investments   (0.3)  (7.8)  (1.0)  (9.1)
 Investment income from Affiliate investments in partnerships   (0.1)  (0.2)  (3.8)  (4.1)
 Interest expense   6.0  11.1  2.7  19.8 
          

  4.8  1.8  (2.8)  3.8 
          

Income before income taxes   24.2  29.2  11.3  64.7 
Income taxes   5.5  5.0  1.4  11.9 
          

Net income   18.7  24.2  9.9  52.8 
 Net income (non-controlling interests)   (11.0)  (16.4)  (3.9)  (31.3)
 Net income (non-controlling interests in partnerships)   (0.1)  (0.1)  (3.8)  (4.0)
          

Net Income (controlling interest)  $ 7.6 $ 7.7 $ 2.2 $ 17.5 
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17.   Goodwill and Acquired Client Relationships

        The following table presents the change in goodwill during the three months ended March 31, 2011:
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  For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2011  
  Mutual Fund  Institutional  High Net Worth  Total  
Revenue  $ 184.2 $ 207.0 $ 35.1 $ 426.3 
Operating expenses:              
 Depreciation and other amortization   4.1  19.7  2.1  25.9 
 Other operating expenses   126.4  127.0  22.1  275.5 
          

  130.5  146.7  24.2  301.4 
          

Operating income   53.7  60.3  10.9  124.9 
          

Non-operating (income) and expenses:              
 Investment and other income   (2.3)  (5.0)  (1.4)  (8.7)
 Income from equity method investments   (1.4)  (7.7)  (1.1)  (10.2)
 Investment income from Affiliate investments in partnerships   —  —  —  — 
 Interest expense   10.8  14.6  2.3  27.7 
          

  7.1  1.9  (0.2)  8.8 
          

Income before income taxes   46.6  58.4  11.1  116.1 
Income taxes   11.7  12.8  2.2  26.7 
          

Net income   34.9  45.6  8.9  89.4 
 Net income (non-controlling interests)   (18.3)  (27.2)  (4.8)  (50.3)
 Net income (non-controlling interests in partnerships)   —  —  —  — 
          

Net Income (controlling interest)  $ 16.6 $ 18.4 $ 4.1 $ 39.1 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Balance Sheet Information              
Total assets as of December 31, 2010  $ 1,847.9 $ 3,009.3 $ 434.0 $ 5,291.2 
Total assets as of March 31, 2011   1,955.2  2,872.7  431.4  5,259.3 

  Mutual Fund  Institutional  High Net Worth  Total  
Balance, as of December 31, 2010  $ 785.9 $ 1,083.7 $ 261.6 $ 2,131.2 
Goodwill acquired   1.9  0.1  —  2.0 
Foreign currency translation   2.4  4.5  2.5  9.4 
          

Balance, as of March 31, 2011  $ 790.2 $ 1,088.3 $ 264.1 $ 2,142.6 
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        The following table reflects the components of intangible assets of the Company's Affiliates that are consolidated as of December 31, 2010 and March 31,
2011:

        For the Company's Affiliates that are consolidated, definite-lived acquired client relationships are amortized over their expected useful lives. As of
March 31, 2011, these relationships were being amortized over a weighted average life of approximately 10 years. The Company estimates that its consolidated
annual amortization expense will be approximately $88.5 million for the next five years, assuming no additional investments in new or existing Affiliates.

        The definite-lived acquired client relationships attributable to the Company's equity method investments are amortized over their expected useful lives. As of
March 31, 2011, these relationships were being amortized over approximately seven years. Amortization expense for these relationships was $8.4 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2011. Assuming no additional investments in new or existing Affiliates, the Company estimates the annual amortization expense
attributable to its current equity-method Affiliates for the next five years as follows:

18.   Affiliate Equity

        Many of the Company's operating agreements provide the Company a conditional right to call and Affiliate partners the conditional right to put their retained
equity interests at certain intervals. The purchase price of these conditional purchases are generally calculated based upon a multiple of the Affiliate's cash flow
distributions, which is intended to represent fair value. Affiliate management partners are also permitted to sell their equity interests to other individuals or entities
in certain cases, subject to the Company's approval or other restrictions. The Company may pay for Affiliate equity purchases in cash, shares of its common stock
or other forms of consideration and can consent to the transfer of these interests to other individuals or entities.

        The current redemption value of these interests has been presented as "Redeemable non-controlling interests" on the Company's Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Changes in the current
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  December 31, 2010  March 31, 2011  

  
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Amortized intangible assets:              
 Acquired client relationships  $ 974.8 $ 228.6 $ 976.5 $ 250.7 

Non-amortized intangible assets:              
 Acquired client relationships-mutual fund management contracts   678.0  —  683.8  — 
 Goodwill   2,131.2  —  2,142.6  — 

Year Ending December 31,  
Estimated Amortization

Expense  
2011  $ 32.9 
2012   32.8 
2013   32.8 
2014   11.3 
2015   4.1 
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redemption value are recorded to Additional paid-in capital. The following table presents the changes in Redeemable non-controlling interests during the period:

        During the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011, the Company acquired interests from and transferred interests to Affiliate management partners.
The following schedule discloses the effect of changes in the Company's ownership interest in its Affiliates on the controlling interest's equity:

19.   Comprehensive Income

        A summary of comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes, is as follows:

        The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes, are as follows:
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Balance as of January 1, 2011  $ 406.3 
Issuance of Redeemable non-controlling interest   48.5 
Repurchase of Redeemable non-controlling interest   (7.0)
Changes in redemption value   83.4 
    

Balance as of March 31, 2011  $ 531.2 
  

 
 

  
For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Net Income (controlling interest)  $ 17.5 $ 39.1 

 

Increase (decrease) in controlling interest paid-in capital from
purchases and sales of Affiliate equity   (16.4)  3.8 

      

 

Change from Net Income (controlling interest) and net transfers
with non-controlling interests  $ 1.1 $ 42.9 

  
 
 

 
 

  
For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Net income  $ 52.8 $ 89.4 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   12.1  14.2 
Change in net unrealized gain on derivative securities   —  0.7 
Change in net unrealized gain on investment securities   13.3  (3.5)
      

Comprehensive income   78.2  100.8 
Comprehensive income (non-controlling interests)   (35.3)  (50.3)
      

Comprehensive income (controlling interest)  $ 42.9 $ 50.5 
  

 
 

 
 

  
December 31,

2010  
March 31,

2011  
Foreign currency translation adjustments  $ 67.9 $ 82.1 
Unrealized gain on derivative securities   3.7  4.4 
Unrealized gain on investment securities   28.9  25.4 
      

Accumulated other comprehensive income  $ 100.5 $ 111.9 
  

 
 

 
 



Item 2.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Forward-Looking Statements

        When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in our other filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, in our press releases
and in oral statements made with the approval of an executive officer, the words or phrases "will likely result," "are expected to," "will continue," "is anticipated,"
"may," "intends," "believes," "estimate," "project" or similar expressions are intended to identify "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including, among others, the following:

• our performance is directly affected by changing conditions in global financial markets generally and in the equity markets particularly, and a
decline or a lack of sustained growth in these markets may result in decreased advisory fees or performance fees and a corresponding decline (or
lack of growth) in our operating results and in the cash flow distributable to us from our Affiliates; 

• we cannot be certain that we will be successful in finding or investing in additional investment management firms on favorable terms, that we will
be able to consummate announced investments in new investment management firms, or that existing and new Affiliates will have favorable
operating results; 

• we may need to raise capital by making long-term or short-term borrowings or by selling shares of our common stock or other securities in order
to finance investments in additional investment management firms or additional investments in our existing Affiliates, and we cannot be sure that
such capital will be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all; and 

• those certain other factors discussed under the caption "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010,
and in any other filings we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time.

        These factors (among others) could affect our financial performance and cause actual results to differ materially from historical earnings and those
presently anticipated and projected. We will not undertake and we specifically disclaim any obligation to release publicly the result of any revisions which may be
made to any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements or to reflect the occurrence of events, whether or not
anticipated. In that respect, we wish to caution readers not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
made.

        Management's Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of AMG and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the "Company" or "AMG") and the notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Executive Overview

        We are a global asset management company with equity investments in leading boutique investment management firms (our "Affiliates"). Our innovative
partnership approach allows each Affiliate's management team to own significant equity in their firm while maintaining operational autonomy. Our strategy is to
generate growth through the internal growth of existing Affiliates, as well as through investments in new Affiliates. In addition, we provide centralized assistance
to our Affiliates in strategic matters, marketing, distribution, product development and operations.

        As of March 31, 2011, we manage approximately $340 billion in assets through our Affiliates in more than 350 investment products across a broad range of
asset classes and investment styles in three principal distribution channels: Mutual Fund, Institutional and High Net Worth. We believe that our diversification
across asset classes, investment styles and distribution channels helps to mitigate our
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exposure to the risks created by changing market environments. The following summarizes our operations in our three principal distribution channels.

• In the Mutual Fund distribution channel, our Affiliates provide advisory or sub-advisory services to mutual funds. These funds are distributed to
retail and institutional clients directly and through intermediaries, including independent investment advisors, retirement plan sponsors, broker-
dealers, major fund marketplaces and bank trust departments. 

• In the Institutional distribution channel, we offer a broad range of investment styles, including small, small/mid, mid and large capitalization
value, growth equity and emerging markets. In addition, our Affiliates offer quantitative, alternative and fixed income products. Through this
distribution channel, our Affiliates manage assets for foundations and endowments, defined benefit and defined contribution plans for corporations
and municipalities, and Taft-Hartley plans, with disciplined and focused investment styles that address the specialized needs of institutional
clients. 

• The High Net Worth distribution channel is comprised broadly of two principal client groups. The first group consists principally of direct
relationships with high net worth individuals and families and charitable foundations. For these clients, our Affiliates provide investment
management or customized investment counseling and fiduciary services. The second group consists of individual managed account client
relationships established through intermediaries, which are generally brokerage firms or other sponsors. Our Affiliates provide investment
management services through more than 100 managed account and wrap programs.

Our Structure and Relationship with Affiliates

        In making investments in boutique investment management firms, we seek to partner with the highest quality firms in the industry, with outstanding
management teams, strong long-term performance records and a demonstrated commitment to continued growth and success. Fundamental to our investment
approach is the belief that Affiliate management equity ownership (along with AMG's ownership) aligns our interests and provides Affiliate managers with a
powerful incentive to continue to grow their business. Our investment structure provides a degree of liquidity and diversification to principal owners of boutique
investment management firms, while at the same time expanding equity ownership opportunities among the firm's management and allowing management to
continue to participate in the firm's future growth. Our partnership approach also ensures that Affiliates maintain operational autonomy in managing their
business, thereby preserving their firm's entrepreneurial culture and independence.

        Although the specific structure of each investment is highly tailored to meet the needs of a particular Affiliate, in all cases, we establish a meaningful equity
interest in the firm, with the remaining equity interests retained by the management of the Affiliate. Each Affiliate is organized as a separate firm, and its
operating or shareholder agreement is structured to provide appropriate incentives for Affiliate management owners and to address the Affiliate's particular
characteristics while also enabling us to protect our interests, including through arrangements such as long-term employment agreements with key members of the
firm's management team.

        In most cases, we own a majority of the equity interests of a firm and structure a revenue sharing arrangement, in which a percentage of revenue is allocated
for use by management of that Affiliate in paying operating expenses of the Affiliate, including salaries and bonuses. We call this the "Operating Allocation." The
portion of each Affiliate's revenue that is allocated to the owners of that Affiliate (including us) is called the "Owners' Allocation." Each Affiliate allocates its
Owners' Allocation to its managers and to us generally in proportion to their and our respective ownership interests in that Affiliate.
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        One of the purposes of our revenue sharing arrangements is to provide ongoing incentives for Affiliate managers by allowing them to participate in the
growth of their firm's revenue, which may increase their compensation from both the Operating Allocation and the Owners' Allocation. These arrangements also
provide incentives to control operating expenses, thereby increasing the portion of the Operating Allocation that is available for growth initiatives and
compensation.

        An Affiliate's Operating Allocation is structured to cover its operating expenses. However, should actual operating expenses exceed the Operating
Allocation, our contractual share of cash under the Owners' Allocation generally has priority over the allocations and distributions to the Affiliate's managers. As
a result, the excess expenses first reduce the portion of the Owners' Allocation allocated to the Affiliate's managers until that portion is eliminated, before
reducing the portion allocated to us. Any such reduction in our portion of the Owners' Allocation is required to be paid back to us out of the portion of future
Owners' Allocation allocated to the Affiliate's managers.

        Our minority investments are also structured to align our interests with those of the Affiliate's management through shared equity ownership, as well as to
preserve the Affiliate's entrepreneurial culture and independence by maintaining the Affiliate's operational autonomy. In cases where we hold a minority
investment, the revenue sharing arrangement generally allocates a percentage of the Affiliate's revenue to us. The remaining revenue is used to pay operating
expenses and profit distributions to the other owners. Generally where we own a minority investment, we are required to use the equity method of accounting.
Consistent with this method, we have not consolidated the operating results of these firms (including their revenue) in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
Our share of these firms' profits (net of intangible amortization) is reported in "Income from equity method investments," and is therefore reflected in our Net
Income and EBITDA. As a consequence, increases or decreases in these firms' assets under management ($78.6 billion as of March 31, 2011 and included in our
reported assets under management) will not affect reported revenue in the same manner as changes in assets under management at our other Affiliates.

        Certain of our Affiliates operate under profit-based arrangements through which we own a majority of the equity in the firm and receive a share of profits as
cash flow, rather than a percentage of revenue through a typical revenue sharing agreement. As a result, we participate fully in any increase or decrease in the
revenue or expenses of such firms. In these cases, we participate in a budgeting process and generally provide incentives to management through compensation
arrangements based on the performance of the Affiliate.

        We are focused on establishing and maintaining long-term partnerships with our Affiliates. Our shared equity ownership gives both us and our Affiliates
meaningful incentives to manage their businesses for strong future growth. From time to time, we may consider changes to the structure of our relationship with
an Affiliate in order to better support the firm's growth strategy.
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Financial Results

        The table below summarizes our financial highlights:

        During the twelve months ended March 31, 2011, global equity market returns continued to improve; the MSCI EAFE and S&P 500 realized increases of
10.9% and 15.7%, respectively. Our total assets under management grew to $339.8 billion at March 31, 2011, an increase of approximately 46% over March 31,
2010. The growth in our assets under management was the result of the successful completion of new Affiliate investments in Aston Asset Management,
Pantheon Ventures and Trilogy Global Advisors ($49.1 billion), investment performance ($42.8 billion) and organic growth of our Affiliates from net client cash
flows ($16.9 billion).

Diversification of Assets under Management

        The following table provides information regarding the composition of our assets under management:
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,    
(in millions, except as noted and per share data)  2010  2011  % Change  
Assets under Management (in billions)  $ 232.1 $ 339.8  46%
Revenue   251.0  426.3  70%
Net Income (controlling interest)   17.5  39.1  123%
Earnings per share—diluted   0.38  0.74  95%
Economic Net Income(1)   50.8  85.1  68%
Economic earnings per share(1)   1.14  1.60  40%
EBITDA(2)   68.2  118.2  73%

(1) Our use of Economic Net Income and Economic earnings per share, including a reconciliation of Economic Net Income
to Net Income, is discussed in "Supplemental Performance Measures" on page 32. 

(2) Our use of EBITDA, including a reconciliation to cash flow from operations, is discussed in greater detail in
"Supplemental Liquidity Measure" on page 34.

  December 31, 2010  March 31, 2011  

(in billions)  
Assets under
Management  

Percentage
of Total  

Assets under
Management  

Percentage
of Total  

Asset Class:              
Equity(1)  $ 220.4  69% $ 232.1  68%
Alternative(2)   65.3  20% 71.9  21%
Fixed Income   34.3  11% 35.8  11%
          

 Total  $ 320.0  100% $ 339.8  100%
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Geography:(3)              
Domestic  $ 110.5  34% $ 115.9  34%
Global/International   169.1  53% 180.7  53%
Emerging Markets   40.4  13% 43.2  13%
          

 Total  $ 320.0  100% $ 339.8  100%
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) The Equity asset class includes equity, balanced and asset allocation products.



        Our assets under management by asset class increased during the three months ended March 31, 2011 principally as a result of investment performance as
well as organic growth from net client cash flows in our Alternative ($3.2 billion) and Equity asset classes ($2.5 billion). The geographic breakdown of our assets
under management also benefitted from investment performance and net client cash flows in Global/International ($3.0 billion) and Emerging Markets
($2.5 billion).

Results of Operations

        The following table presents our Affiliates' reported assets under management by operating segment (which are also referred to as distribution channels in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q).

Assets under Management

        As shown in the assets under management table above, client cash inflows totaled $21.4 billion while client cash outflows totaled $14.9 billion for the three
months ended March 31, 2011. Client flows for the three months ended March 31, 2011 occurred across a broad range of product offerings in each of our
distribution channels, with no individual cash inflow or outflow having a material impact on our revenue or expenses.

        The operating segment analysis presented in the following table is based on average assets under management. For the Mutual Fund distribution channel,
average assets under management represents an average of the daily net assets under management. For the Institutional and High Net Worth distribution channels,
average assets under management reflects the billing patterns of particular client accounts. For example, assets under management for an account that bills in
advance is presented in the table on the basis of beginning of period assets under management while an account that bills in arrears is reflected on the basis of end
of period assets under management. We believe that this
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(2) The Alternative asset class includes private equity, multi-strategy, market neutral equity and hedge products. 

(3) The geography of a particular investment product describes the general location of its investment holdings.

Statement of Changes-Quarter to Date
(in billions)  Mutual Fund  Institutional  

High Net
Worth  Total  

December 31, 2010  $ 85.2 $ 200.1 $ 34.7 $ 320.0 
 Client cash inflows   7.0  12.7  1.7  21.4 
 Client cash outflows   (4.8)  (8.4)  (1.7)  (14.9)
          

  Net client cash flows   2.2  4.3  —  6.5 
          

 Other(1)   (0.2)  —  —  (0.2)
 Investment performance   3.4  8.3  1.8  13.5 
          

March 31, 2011  $ 90.6 $ 212.7 $ 36.5 $ 339.8 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) Other includes assets under management attributable to Affiliate product transitions, new investment client transitions and transfers of our
interests in certain Affiliated investment management firms, the financial effects of which are not material to our ongoing results.



analysis more closely correlates to the billing cycle of each distribution channel and, as such, provides a more meaningful relationship to revenue.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,    
(in millions, except as noted)  2010  2011  % Change  

Average assets under management (in billions)(1)           
Mutual Fund  $ 47.2 $ 87.1  85%
Institutional   138.1  208.0  51%
High Net Worth   30.3  35.8  18%
         

 Total  $ 215.6 $ 330.9  53%
  

 
 

 
    

Revenue           
Mutual Fund  $ 97.9 $ 184.2  88%
Institutional   121.8  207.0  70%
High Net Worth   31.3  35.1  12%
         

 Total  $ 251.0 $ 426.3  70%
  

 
 

 
    

Net Income (controlling interest)           
Mutual Fund  $ 7.6 $ 16.6  118%
Institutional   7.7  18.4  139%
High Net Worth   2.2  4.1  86%
         

 Total  $ 17.5 $ 39.1  123%
  

 
 

 
    

EBITDA(2)           
Mutual Fund  $ 20.9 $ 38.5  84%
Institutional   38.1  68.9  81%
High Net Worth   9.2  10.8  17%
         

 Total  $ 68.2 $ 118.2  73%
  

 
 

 
    

(1) As described above, our average assets under management considers balances used to bill revenue during the reporting
period. These amounts also include assets managed by firms whose financial results are not consolidated ($56.6 billion
and $76.0 billion for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively). Assets under management
attributable to any investments in new Affiliates are included on a weighted average basis for the period from the closing
date of the respective investment. 

(2) EBITDA represents earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. Our use of EBITDA,
including reconciliation to cash flow from operations, is described in greater detail in "Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Supplemental Liquidity Measure" on page 34. For purposes of our distribution channel operating results, expenses not
incurred directly by Affiliates have been allocated based on the proportion of aggregate cash flow distributions reported
by each Affiliate in the particular distribution channel.



Revenue

        Our revenue is generally determined by the level of our assets under management, the portion of our assets across our products and three operating segments,
which realize different fee rates, and the recognition of any performance fees. Performance fees are generally measured on absolute or relative investment
performance against a benchmark. As a result, the level of performance fees earned can vary significantly from period to period and these fees may not
necessarily be correlated to changes in total assets under management.

        Our total revenue increased $175.3 million (or 70%) in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010,
primarily from a 53% increase in average assets under management and our investments in new Affiliates that realize comparatively higher fee rates. The increase
in average assets under management resulted principally from our new Affiliate investments, strong investment performance and positive net client cash flows.
Performance fees were not a significant component of consolidated revenue in either the three months ended March 31, 2011 or the three months ended
March 31, 2010 (approximately 1% of consolidated revenue for both time periods).

        The following discusses the changes in our revenue by operating segments.

Mutual Fund Distribution Channel

        Our revenue in the Mutual Fund distribution channel increased $86.3 million (or 88%) in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2010, primarily from a 85% increase in average assets under management. The increase in average assets under management resulted
principally from our new Affiliate investments, strong investment performance and positive net client cash flows.

Institutional Distribution Channel

        Our revenue in the Institutional distribution channel increased $85.2 million (or 70%) in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2010, primarily from a 51% increase in average assets under management and our investments in new Affiliates that realize
comparatively higher fee rates. The increase in average assets under management resulted principally from our new Affiliate investments, strong investment
performance and positive net client cash flows. Performance fees were not a significant component of consolidated revenue in either the three months ended
March 31, 2011 or the three months ended March 31, 2010 (approximately 2% of consolidated revenue for both time periods).

High Net Worth Distribution Channel

        Our revenue in the High Net Worth distribution channel increased $3.8 million (or 12%) in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2010, primarily from a 18% increase in average assets under management. The increase in average assets under management resulted
principally from investment performance.
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Operating Expenses

        The following table summarizes our consolidated operating expenses:

        The substantial portion of our operating expenses is incurred by our Affiliates, the majority of which is incurred by Affiliates with revenue sharing
arrangements. For Affiliates with revenue sharing arrangements, an Affiliate's Operating Allocation percentage generally determines its operating expenses.
Accordingly, our compensation expense is impacted by increases or decreases in each Affiliate's revenue and the corresponding increases or decreases in each
Affiliate's respective Operating Allocation. During the three months ended March 31, 2011, approximately $91.4 million (or 51%) of our consolidated
compensation expense was attributable to our Affiliate management partners. The percentage of revenue allocated to operating expenses varies from one Affiliate
to another and may also vary within an Affiliate depending on the source or amount of revenue. As a result, changes in our aggregate revenue may not impact our
consolidated operating expenses to the same degree.

        Compensation and related expenses increased 51% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010,
primarily as a result of increases in aggregate Affiliate expenses of $37.9 million from new Affiliate investments during 2010, and $13.3 million from the
relationship between revenue and operating expenses at extant Affiliates, which experienced increases in revenue, and accordingly, reported higher compensation
expenses. This increase was also attributable to increases in holding company incentive and share-based compensation.

        Selling, general and administrative increased 93% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010. This
increase resulted principally from increases in aggregate Affiliate expenses of $27.9 million from new Affiliate investments as well as increases in sub-advisory
and distribution expenses attributable to an increase in assets under management at our Affiliates in the Mutual Fund distribution channel. These increases were
partially offset by a $4.5 million decrease in acquisition-related professional fees.

        Amortization of intangible assets increased 148% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010. This
increase was principally attributable to increases in definite-lived intangible assets resulting from new Affiliate investments.

        Depreciation and other amortization increased 27% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010,
principally attributable to an increase in aggregate Affiliate expenses from new Affiliate investments.

        Other operating expenses increased 39% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, principally
attributable to an increase in aggregate Affiliate expenses from new Affiliate investments.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,    
(in millions)  2010  2011  % Change  
Compensation and related expenses  $ 119.2 $ 179.5  51%
Selling, general and administrative   45.3  87.5  93%
Amortization of intangible assets   8.9  22.1  148%
Depreciation and other amortization   3.0  3.8  27%
Other operating expenses   6.1  8.5  39%
         

Total operating expenses  $ 182.5 $ 301.4  65%
  

 
 

 
    



Other Income Statement Data

        The following table summarizes other income statement data:

        Income from equity method investments consists of our share of income from Affiliates that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting, net of
any related intangible amortization. Income from equity method investments increased 12% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2010, principally as a result of increases in assets under management at Affiliates that we account for under the equity method of
accounting. For the quarter ended March 31, 2011, income from performance fees earned on our equity method investments ($13.5 million of revenue) was
consistent with amounts reported in the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

        Investment and other income increased 211% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, principally
as a result of an increase in Affiliate investment earnings, including $4.2 million from new Affiliates.

        Investment income from investments in partnerships relates to the consolidation of certain investment partnerships in which our Affiliates are the general
partner. In the third quarter of 2010, we deconsolidated these partnerships. For the three months ended March 31, 2010, the income from investments in
partnerships was $4.1 million, which was principally attributable to investors who are unrelated to us.

        Interest expense increased 21% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, principally as a result of
increased borrowings under our revolving credit facility, which was amended and restated in January 2011 (the "credit facility"), as well as an increase in the cost
of credit facility borrowings. The increase was also attributable to a $0.8 million increase in issuance costs related to our credit facility amendment.

        Imputed interest expense consists of interest accretion on our senior convertible securities and our junior convertible trust preferred securities as well as the
accretion of our projected contingent payment arrangements. Imputed interest expense increased 118% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to
the three months ended March 31, 2010, principally as a result of a $4.2 million increase in accretion related to our contingent payment arrangements in the three
months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010.

        Income taxes increased 124% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, as the result of increases
in Income before income taxes and approximately $1.1 million of taxes attributable to non-controlling interests from our 2010 new Affiliate investments.
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,    
(in millions)  2010  2011  % Change  
Income from equity method investments  $ 9.1 $ 10.2  12%
Investment and other income   2.8  8.7  211%
Investment income from investments in partnerships   4.1  —  (100)%
Interest expense   16.0  19.4  21%
Imputed interest expense   3.8  8.3  118%
Income tax expense   11.9  26.7  124%



Net Income

        The following table summarizes Net Income:

        Net income attributable to non-controlling interests increased 61% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010, principally as a result of the previously discussed changes in revenue partially offset by the previously discussed increases in tax expenses.

        Net income (non-controlling interest in partnerships) relates to the consolidation of certain investment partnerships in which our Affiliates are the general
partner. In the third quarter of 2010, we deconsolidated these partnerships. For the three months ended March 31, 2010, the income from investments in
partnerships was $4.0 million.

        Net Income (controlling interest) increased 123% in the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010,
respectively, as a result of the previously discussed increases in revenue, partially offset by increases in reported operating and income tax expenses.

Supplemental Performance Measures

        As supplemental information, we provide non-GAAP performance measures that we refer to as Economic Net Income and Economic earnings per share. We
consider Economic Net Income an important measure of our financial performance, as we believe it best represents our operating performance before non-cash
expenses relating to our acquisition of interests in our investment management firms. Economic Net Income and Economic earnings per share are used by our
management and Board of Directors as our principal performance benchmarks, including as measures for aligning executive compensation with stockholder
value. These measures are provided in addition to, but not as a substitute for, Net Income (controlling interest) and Earnings per share. Economic Net Income and
Economic earnings per share are not liquidity measures and should not be used in place of any liquidity measure calculated under GAAP.

        Under our Economic Net Income definition, we add to Net Income (controlling interest) amortization (including equity method amortization), deferred taxes
related to intangible assets, non-cash imputed interest expense (principally related to the accounting for convertible securities and contingent payment
arrangements) and Affiliate equity expense. We add back amortization attributable to acquired client relationships because this expense does not correspond to the
changes in value of these assets, which do not diminish predictably over time. The portion of deferred taxes generally attributable to intangible assets (including
goodwill) that we no longer amortize but which continues to generate tax deductions is added back, because we believe it is unlikely these accruals will be used to
settle material tax obligations. We add back non-cash expenses relating to certain transfers of equity between Affiliate management partners, when these transfers
have no dilutive effect to our shareholders.

        Economic earnings per share represents Economic Net Income divided by the adjusted diluted average shares outstanding, which measures the potential
share issuance from our senior convertible
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,    
(in millions)  2010  2011  % Change  
Net income  $ 52.8 $ 89.4  69%
Net income (non-controlling interests)   31.3  50.3  61%
Net income (non-controlling interests in

partnerships)   4.0  —  (100)%
Net Income (controlling interest)   17.5  39.1  123%



securities and junior convertible securities (each further described in Liquidity and Capital Resources) using a "treasury stock" method. Under this method, only
the net number of shares of common stock equal to the value of these securities in excess of par, if any, are deemed to be outstanding. We believe the inclusion of
net shares under a treasury stock method best reflects the benefit of the increase in available capital resources (which could be used to repurchase shares of
common stock) that occurs when these securities are converted and we are relieved of our debt obligation. This method does not take into account any increase or
decrease in our cost of capital in an assumed conversion.

        In the fourth quarter of 2010, we modified our Economic Net Income definition to no longer add back Affiliate depreciation to Net Income (controlling
interest). If we had applied this definition change to the three months ended March 31, 2010, Economic Net Income would have been $48.9 million and
Economic earnings per share would have been $1.09, as compared to $50.8 million and $1.14, respectively.

        The following table provides a reconciliation of Net Income (controlling interest) to Economic Net Income:
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
(in millions, except shares and per share data)  2010  2011  
Net Income (controlling interest)  $ 17.5 $ 39.1 
 Intangible amortization(1)(2)   16.7  27.1 
 Intangible-related deferred taxes   10.7  12.9 
 Imputed interest(3)   2.3  4.4 
 Affiliate equity expense   1.7  1.6 
 Affiliate depreciation   1.9  — 
      

Economic Net Income  $ 50.8 $ 85.1 
  

 
 

 
 

Average shares outstanding—diluted   45.4  53.1 
 Assumed issuance of senior convertible securities shares   (0.8)  — 
 Assumed issuance of junior convertible securities shares   —  — 
 Dilutive impact of senior convertible securities shares   0.2  — 
 Dilutive impact of junior convertible securities shares   —  — 
      

Average shares outstanding—adjusted diluted   44.8  53.1 
  

 
 

 
 

Economic earnings per share  $ 1.14 $ 1.60 
  

 
 

 
 

(1) We are required to use the equity method of accounting for certain of our investments and, as such, do not separately
report these Affiliates' revenues or expenses (including intangible amortization) in our income statement. Our share of
these investments' amortization, $8.1 million and $8.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011,
respectively, is reported in "Income from equity method investments." 

(2) Our reported intangible amortization, $8.9 million and $22.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and
2011, respectively, includes $0.3 million and $3.4 million, respectively, of amortization attributable to our non-controlling
interests, amounts not added back to Net Income (controlling interest) to measure our Economic Net Income. 

(3) Our reported imputed interest expense, $3.8 million and $8.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and
2011, respectively, includes $0.0 million and $1.4 million, respectively, of imputed interest attributable to our non-
controlling interests, amounts not added back to Net Income (controlling interest) to measure our Economic Net Income.



        Economic Net Income increased 68% in the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, primarily as a
result of the previously described factors that caused an increase in Net Income as well as increases in amortization and intangible-related deferred tax expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        The following table summarizes certain key financial data relating to our liquidity and capital resources:

 

        We view our ratio of debt to EBITDA (our "internal leverage ratio") as an important gauge of our ability to service debt, make new investments and access
additional capital. Consistent with industry practice, we do not consider junior trust preferred securities as debt for the purpose of determining our internal
leverage ratio. We also view our leverage on a "net debt" basis by deducting from our debt balance holding company cash. At March 31, 2011, our internal
leverage ratio was 1.4:1.

        Under the terms of our credit facility we are required to meet two financial ratio covenants. The first of these covenants is a maximum ratio of debt to
EBITDA (the "bank leverage ratio") of 3.5. The calculation of our bank leverage ratio is generally consistent with our internal leverage ratio approach. The
second covenant is a minimum EBITDA to cash interest expense ratio of 3.0 (our "bank interest coverage ratio"). For the purposes of calculating these ratios,
share-based compensation expense is added back to EBITDA. As of March 31, 2011, our actual bank leverage and bank interest coverage ratios were 1.7 and 8.0,
respectively, and we were in full compliance with all terms of our credit facility. We have $410 million of remaining capacity under our $750 million credit
facility and we could borrow the entire amount and remain in compliance with our credit agreement.

        We are rated BBB- by both Standard & Poor's and Fitch rating agencies. With the exception of a modest increase in the borrowing rate under our credit
facility (0.50%), a downgrade of our credit rating would have no direct financial effect on any of our agreements or securities (or otherwise trigger a default).

Supplemental Liquidity Measure

        As supplemental information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have provided information regarding our EBITDA, a non-GAAP liquidity measure.
This measure is provided in
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(in millions)  
December 31,

2010  
March 31,

2011  
Balance Sheet Data        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 313.3 $ 252.8 
Senior bank debt   460.0  340.0 
2008 senior convertible notes   422.1  425.5 
Junior convertible trust preferred securities   509.9  510.5 

  
For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
  2010  2011  
Cash Flow Data        
Operating cash flow  $ 68.0 $ 130.2 
Investing cash flow   (131.9)  (12.1)
Financing cash flow   7.6  (180.8)
EBITDA(1)   68.2  118.2 

(1) The definition of EBITDA is presented in Note 2 on page 28 and below under Supplemental Liquidity Measure.



addition to, but not as a substitute for, cash flow from operations. EBITDA represents earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization. EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be consistent with computations of EBITDA by other companies. As a measure of liquidity, we believe that
EBITDA is useful as an indicator of our ability to service debt, make new investments and meet working capital requirements. We further believe that many
investors use this information when analyzing the financial position of companies in the investment management industry.

        The following table provides a reconciliation of cash flow from operations to EBITDA:

        In the three months ended March 31, 2011, we met our cash requirements primarily through cash generated by operating activities. Our principal uses of
cash in the three months ended March 31, 2011 were to make distributions to Affiliate managers and repay our senior bank debt. We expect that our principal uses
of cash for the foreseeable future will be for investments in new and existing Affiliates, distributions to Affiliate managers, payment of principal and interest on
outstanding debt, and for working capital purposes.

        The following table summarizes the principal amount due at maturity of our debt obligations and convertible securities as of March 31, 2011:
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For the Three Months

Ended March 31,  
(in millions)  2010  2011  
Cash flow from operations  $ 68.0 $ 130.2 
 Interest expense, net of non-cash items(1)   14.2  16.8 
 Current tax provision   2.5  13.5 
 Income from equity method investments, net of distributions(2)   (6.0)  (46.4)
 Net income (non-controlling interests)   (31.3)  (50.3)
 Net income (non-controlling interests in partnerships)   (4.0)  — 
 Changes in assets and liabilities   28.3  65.1 
 Other non-cash adjustments(3)   (3.5)  (10.7)
      

EBITDA  $ 68.2 $ 118.2 
  

 
 

 
 

(1) Non-cash items represent amortization of issuance costs and imputed interest ($5.6 million and $10.9 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively). 

(2) Distributions from equity method investments were $23.2 million and $64.9 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively. 

(3) Other non-cash adjustments include stock option expenses, tax benefits from stock options and other adjustments to
reconcile Net Income (controlling interest) to net cash flow from operating activities.

(in millions)  Amount  Maturity Date  
Form of

Repayment
Senior Bank Debt  $ 340.0  2015 (1)
2008 Senior Convertibles Notes   460.0  2038 (2)
Junior Convertible Trust Preferred Securities   730.8  2036/2037 (3)

(1) Settled in cash.



Senior Bank Debt

        Under the credit facility, we pay interest based on a LIBOR rate or the prime rate (plus an applicable spread, which varies depending on our credit rating).
Subject to the agreement of lenders to provide additional commitments, we have the option to increase the credit facility by up to $150 million. The credit facility
is unsecured and contains financial covenants with respect to leverage and interest coverage and customary affirmative and negative covenants, including
limitations on indebtedness, liens, cash dividends and fundamental corporate changes. As of March 31, 2011, we had $340 million outstanding under the credit
facility.

Convertible Securities

        At March 31, 2011, we have one senior convertible security outstanding ("2008 senior convertible notes") and two junior convertible trust preferred
securities outstanding, one issued in 2006 (the "2006 junior convertible trust preferred securities") and a second issued in 2007 (the "2007 junior convertible trust
preferred securities"). The principal terms of these securities are summarized below.

Derivative Instruments

        From time to time, we seek to offset our exposure to changing interest rates under our debt financing arrangements by entering into interest rate hedging
contracts. These instruments are designated as cash flow hedges with changes in fair value recorded in other comprehensive income for the effective portion of
the hedge.
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(2) Settled in cash if holders exercise their August 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028 or 2033 put rights, and in cash or common stock
(or a combination thereof) at our election if the holders exercise their conversion rights. 

(3) Settled in cash or common stock (or a combination thereof) at our election if the holders exercise their conversion rights.

  

2008
Senior

Convertible
Notes  

2007 Junior
Convertible

Trust Preferred
Securities  

2006 Junior
Convertible

Trust Preferred
Securities  

Issue Date  August 2008 October 2007 April 2006 
Maturity Date  August 2038 October 2037 April 2036 
Next Potential Put Date  August 2013 N/A N/A 
Par Value  $460.0 $430.8 $300.0 
Carrying Value(1)  425.5 296.6 213.9 
Note Denomination  1,000 50 50 
Current Conversion Rate  7.959 0.250 0.333 
Current Conversion Price  $125.65 $200.00 $150.00 
Stated Coupon  3.95% 5.15% 5.10%
Coupon Frequency  Semi-annually Quarterly Quarterly 
Tax Deduction Rate(2)  9.38% 8.00% 7.50%

(1) The carrying value is accreted to the principal amount at maturity over an expected life of five years for the 2008 senior
convertible notes and 30 years for each of the junior convertible trust preferred securities. 

(2) These convertible securities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under federal income tax regulations,
which require us to deduct interest in an amount greater than our reported interest expense.



        We have entered into interest rate swap contracts to exchange a fixed rate for the variable rate on our credit facility. These contracts expire between 2015 and
2017. Under these contracts, we will pay a weighted average fixed rate of 1.76% on a notional amount of $100.0 million through October 2015. Thereafter,
through October 2017, we will pay a weighted average fixed rate of 2.14% on a remaining notional amount of $25 million. As of March 31, 2011, the unrealized
gain on these contracts was $3.0 million.

        We also entered into treasury rate lock agreements with a notional value of $100.0 million to hedge an anticipated issuance of fixed-rate debt. These
contracts were settled in February 2011 for a net pre-tax gain of $4.0 million.

Forward Equity Sale Agreement

        During 2009, we entered into a forward equity sale agreement with a major securities firm to sell shares of our common stock, and extended this agreement
in April 2011. As of March 31, 2011, no forward equity sales are outstanding. We may sell up to an additional $103.5 million under this agreement.

Share Repurchase Program

        Our Board of Directors has authorized share repurchase programs in recent periods. The maximum number of shares that may yet be repurchased under
outstanding programs is approximately 1.6 million. The timing and amount of issuances and repurchases are determined at the discretion of our management.

Affiliate Equity

        Many of our operating agreements provide us a conditional right to call and Affiliate partners the conditional right to put their retained equity interests at
certain intervals. The purchase price of these conditional purchases are generally calculated based upon a multiple of the Affiliate's cash flow distributions, which
is intended to represent fair value. Affiliate management partners are also permitted to sell their equity interests to other individuals or entities in certain cases,
subject to our approval or other restrictions. We may pay for Affiliate equity purchases in cash, shares of our common stock or other forms of consideration and
can consent to the transfer of these interests to other individuals or entities.

        Our current redemption value for these interests has been presented as "Redeemable non-controlling interests" on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Although the timing and amounts of these purchases are difficult to predict, we expect to repurchase approximately $100 million of Affiliate equity during the
next twelve months, and, in such event, will own the cash flow associated with any equity repurchased.

Operating Cash Flow

        Cash flow from operations generally represents Net Income plus non-cash charges for amortization, deferred taxes, equity-based compensation and
depreciation, as well as increases and decreases in our consolidated working capital.

        The increase in cash flows from operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, resulted
principally from an increase in Net Income of $36.6 million, an increase in distributions from equity method investments of $41.7 million and a decrease in
collection of unsettled shares receivable of $38.0 million, partially offset by a decrease in payments of unsettled shares payable of $53.9 million and an increase
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $19.5 million.
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Investing Cash Flow

        The net cash flow used in investing activities decreased $119.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010. This was primarily the result of a $114.4 million decrease in cash flow used for new Affiliate investments in 2011, as compared to 2010.

Financing Cash Flow

        Net cash flows used in financing activities increased $188.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010. This was primarily a result of repayments of the credit facility for the three months ended March 31, 2011 (as compared to net borrowings for
the three months ended March 31, 2010), partially offset by a decrease in repurchases of Affiliate equity of $94.8 million.

        In the second quarter of 2011, we will make a payment of approximately $63.8 million representing the deferred purchase price from our Pantheon Ventures
acquisition. We are also contingently liable, upon achievement of specified financial targets, to make payments of up to $496.5 million through 2015 under past
acquisition agreements. In 2011, we expect to make total payments of approximately $1.4 million to settle portions of these contingent obligations and we expect
to repurchase about $100.0 million of interests in certain existing Affiliates in 2011.

        We anticipate that borrowings under the credit facility and proceeds from the settlement of any forward equity sales, together with cash flows from
operations will be sufficient to support our cash flow needs for the foreseeable future.

Contractual Obligations

        The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2011:
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    Payments Due  
   

 
Remainder

of 2011

       
(in millions)

 Total  2012-2013  2014-2015  Thereafter
 

Contractual Obligations  
Senior bank debt  $ 340.0 $ — $ 340.0 $ — $ — 
Senior convertible securities(1)   959.6  9.1  36.3  36.3  877.9 
Junior convertible trust preferred securities   1,690.2  27.8  74.1  74.1  1,514.2 
Leases   123.8  18.4  42.5  32.0  30.9 
Other liabilities(2)   122.0  80.5  —  —  41.5 
            

Total Contractual Obligations  $ 3,235.6 $ 135.8 $ 492.9 $ 142.4 $ 2,464.5 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Contingent Obligations                 

Contingent payment obligations(3)  $ 128.8 $ 1.4 $ 93.9 $ 33.5 $ — 

(1) The timing of debt payments assumes that outstanding debt is settled for cash or common stock at the applicable maturity dates. The
amounts include the cash payment of fixed interest. Holders of the 2008 convertible notes may put their interests to us for $460 million in
2013. 

(2) Other liabilities reflect amounts payable to Affiliate managers related to our purchase of additional Affiliate equity interests and deferred
purchase price payments for acquisitons. This table does not include liabilities for uncertain tax positions or commitments to co-invest in
certain investment partnerships (of $24.6 million and $98.6 million as of March 31, 2011, respectively) as we cannot predict when such
obligations will be paid. 

(3) The amount of contingent payments related to business acquisitions disclosed in the table represents our expected settlement amounts.
The maximum settlement amount through 2011 is $54.1 million and $442.4 million in periods thereafter.



Item 3.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

        There have been no significant changes to our Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk in the three months ended March 31, 2011.
Please refer to Item 7A in our 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4.    Controls and Procedures 

        We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures during the quarter covered by this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the quarter covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that (i) the information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and (ii) such information is accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we recognize that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in
evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure controls and procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance of
achieving their stated objectives and our principal executive officer and principal financial officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective at the reasonable assurance level. We review on an ongoing basis and document our disclosure controls and procedures, and our internal control over
financial reporting, and we may from time to time make changes in an effort to enhance their effectiveness and ensure that our systems evolve with our business.

        No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the quarter
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

        The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 provides that recent business combinations may be excluded from internal controls assessment; consequently, management
will include Pantheon Ventures and Trilogy Global Advisors in our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6.    Exhibits 

        The exhibits are listed on the Exhibit Index and are included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
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  AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

May 10, 2011  /s/ JAY C. HORGEN

Jay C. Horgen
on behalf of the Registrant as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (and also as
Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit No.  Description
 10.1 Transition and Advisory Services Agreement by and between Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. and Darrell W. Crate

dated as of February 1, 2011.

 31.1 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 31.2 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 32.1 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 32.2 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 101 The following financial statements from the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2011 are furnished herewith, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three month periods ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, (ii) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of Equity
for the three month period ended March 31, 2011, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three
month periods ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Exhibit 10.1
 

TRANSITION AND ADVISORY SERVICES AGREEMENT
 

This Transition and Advisory Services Agreement (hereinafter the “Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between Affiliated Managers
Group, Inc. (the “Company”) and Darrell W. Crate (hereinafter “Mr. Crate”), effective on the Effective Date as defined in Section 16 below.

 
1.             Resignation Date.  The Company and Mr. Crate hereby agree that Mr. Crate shall resign from all officerships and directorships of the

Company and any of its subsidiaries and Affiliates, effective as of May 31, 2011, or such earlier date determined by the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (the “Resignation Date”).  For the avoidance of doubt, Mr. Crate will remain an employee of the Company subsequent to the Resignation Date.

 
2.             Transition Period.  The period from the Effective Date through the Resignation Date shall be the “Transition Period.”  During the Transition

Period, Mr. Crate shall continue as the Company’s Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, reporting to the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company (the “CEO”) and coordinating with the CEO and other executives of the Company in order to ensure an orderly transition of his duties and
responsibilities to his successor.  During the Transition Period, the Company will continue to provide Mr. Crate his base salary (at the rate currently in effect),
in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll practices (the “Base Salary”).  Mr. Crate shall additionally participate in the Company’s standard employee
benefit plans and programs, subject to plan terms and generally applicable policies of the Company.

 
3.             Target Compensation.  Mr. Crate will receive annualized target compensation, on an all-cash basis, commensurate with Mr. Crate’s

historical levels (inclusive of bonus, incentives and equity awards), subject to Mr. Crate’s satisfactory transition of his Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer duties
to a successor, complete fulfillment of all of his obligations hereunder, successful financial performance of the Company overall, and appropriate proration to
reflect his services in the 2011 year, each as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors in its sole discretion.  It is anticipated that the additional target
compensation will be paid at the time bonus compensation is customarily paid to the Company’s management.

 
4.             Ongoing Advisory Services.  Through February 29, 2016, Mr. Crate shall continue to be employed and provide such ongoing advisory

services to the Company (including, but not limited to, in connection with his former duties as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer, and other senior management roles at the Company) as the Company reasonably requests.  At the reasonable request of the Company, Mr. Crate
shall provide a summary of services he has provided to the Company (consistent with his role and responsibilities, as provided by the Chief Executive
Officer).

 
5.             Equity Interests and Benefits.
 

(a)           Equity Interests and Sales.  Mr. Crate currently holds certain equity awards granted to him by the Company, which shall remain
outstanding pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreement, equity incentive plan and other agreements or requirements applicable to such
awards.  During 2011, Mr. Crate agrees he may sell no
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more than 50% of the total value of all vested equity then held, in up to two tranches, one prior to and one following the Resignation Date, subject to
the limitations of the Company’s Insider Trading Policy.  During each succeeding year from 2012 to 2014, Mr. Crate agrees he may sell no more than
50% of the total value of all vested and unvested equity (for the avoidance of doubt, only equity that is vested may be sold), subject to a catch-up
provision for sales of equity in subsequent years, if equity is not sold in a prior period.

 
(b)           Medical and Dental Insurance Continuation.  The Company agrees it shall continue to provide, for at least two years from the

Resignation Date, Mr. Crate and his eligible dependents with coverage under the Company’s group medical and dental insurance.  The Company has
the right to rescind such coverage at any time, with reasonable advance notice to Mr. Crate.

 
(c)           Continuing Right to Indemnification.  Mr. Crate shall continue to be entitled to all of the rights and entitlements he currently holds

to indemnification as an officer and employee of the Company under the Certificate of Incorporation, By-laws, and insurance policies of the
Company and any of its subsidiaries and Affiliates.

 
6.             Non-Competition.  During the term of this Agreement, Mr. Crate acknowledges that, without the express written consent of the Company he

will not accept employment with, work for or otherwise provide services to, anywhere in the world, and whether with or without compensation, any firm in
the asset management industry, including any public company asset management peer, or any other competitive public or private financial services entity.

 
7.             Non-Solicitation.  During the term of this Agreement, Mr. Crate agrees that he will not directly or indirectly (a) solicit or encourage any

client of the Company or any of its Affiliates to terminate or diminish its relationship with them; or (b) seek to persuade any such client or any prospective
client of the Company to conduct with anyone else any business or activity which such client or prospective client conducts or could conduct with the
Company.  Mr. Crate further agrees that he will not solicit any persons employed by or otherwise affiliated with the Company or any of its Affiliates to
terminate or diminish their relationship with the Company.

 
8.             Confidential Information.  Mr. Crate agrees that, except as authorized in writing by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, as required by

applicable law, rule, regulation or legal process, he will not, directly or indirectly, use or disclose any Confidential Information belonging to the Company. 
For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means any and all information of the Company that is not generally known by others with whom
it competes or does business, or with whom it plans to compete or do business, including but not limited to (a) all proprietary information of the Company,
including but not limited to the products and services, technical data, methods, processes, trade secrets, know-how, developments, inventions, and formulae of
the Company, (b) the development, research, testing, marketing, financial activities and strategic plans of the Company, (c) the manner in which the Company
operates, (d) the Company’s actual and projected financial performance, (e) the identity and special needs of the Affiliates, customers, prospective customers
and investors of the Company, and (f) the people and organizations with whom the Company has business
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relationships and the substance of those relationships.  Confidential Information also includes any information that the Company may receive or has received
from Affiliates, customers, investors, business partners or others with any understanding, express or implied, that the information would not be publicly
disclosed.

 
9.             Non-Disparagement.  Mr. Crate agrees that he shall not make any false, disparaging or derogatory statements to any person or entity,

including without limitation, any media outlet (including, but not limited to, any Internet-based chat rooms, message boards, blogs and/or web pages),
industry groups, financial institutions, current or former employees, Affiliates, consultants, clients or customers of the Company regarding the Company or
any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or representatives, or about the Company’s business affairs and/or financial condition.  Mr. Crate further
agrees that, in addition to the foregoing, he shall not take any other action that could have a detrimental or harmful effect on the interests of the Company or
its Affiliates, it being understood that a determination of whether Mr. Crate’s actions have had any such detrimental or harmful effect shall be at the sole
discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company.

 
10.           Notice of Activities.  Mr. Crate shall notify the General Counsel of the Company prior to undertaking any commitments, including without

limitation business investments, board appointments and non-profit service or political or governmental activities, which might potentially interfere with his
ability to provide the advisory services Mr. Crate is to provide pursuant to this Agreement, or which might reasonably be expected to have some effect on the
public or investor relations positioning of the Company.

 
11.           Remedies.  The Company and Mr. Crate agree without reservation that the restraints set forth in Sections 6, 7, 8 and 9 hereof are necessary

for the reasonable and proper protection of the Company; that each and every one of the restraints is reasonable with respect to subject matter, length of time,
scope of activities and geographic area; and that these restraints will not prevent Mr. Crate from obtaining other suitable employment, if he wishes to do so. 
Mr. Crate further agrees that, were he to breach any of the covenants contained in Sections 6, 7, 8 and 9, the damage to the Company would be irreparable. 
Mr. Crate therefore agrees that the Company, in addition to any other remedies available to it, shall be entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief
against any breach or threatened breach by Mr. Crate of any of those covenants, together with an award of attorney’s fees incurred in connection with securing
the same.  It is expressly agreed that the Company will not have to post bond in connection with any such equitable relief, and that Mr. Crate will not take,
and will not permit anyone else to take on his behalf, any position in a court or any other forum inconsistent with any of his covenants and agreements herein. 
The Company and Mr. Crate further agree that, in the event that any provision of Section 6 of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a geographic area, or too great a range of activities, that
provision shall be deemed to be modified to permit its enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.  Further, the Company and Mr. Crate agree that
the period of restriction described in Section 6 shall be tolled, and shall not run, during any period of time in which Mr. Crate is in breach thereof.
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12.           Executive’s Release of Claims.
 

(a)           Mr. Crate hereby releases, waives and forever discharges the Company and all those persons, employees, directors, agents and
entities affiliated with it from and against any and all claims, rights and causes of action now existing, both known and unknown, including but not
limited to all claims of breach of contract or misrepresentation, wrongful discharge, and claims of alleged violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the
Americans With Disabilities Act, Massachusetts G.L. c. 151B, Massachusetts G.L. c. 149, § 148, and any other local, state, or federal regulation or
other requirement, and any other claim relating to or arising out of Mr. Crate’s employment and/or other relationship with the Company.

 
(b)           Mr. Crate hereby covenants that he will not institute any charge, complaint, or lawsuit in any tribunal or forum to challenge the

validity of this release or  the validity of the releases appended hereto as Exhibits A and B, or to otherwise assert claims against the Company that
have been waived hereunder.  Mr. Crate further covenants that he will not institute any charge, complaint, or lawsuit in any tribunal or forum to
assert claims against the Company arising under or relating to this Agreement or to any other alleged rights arising in the future, it being understood
that Mr. Crate’s rights under the Agreement are to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company.  It is agreed and
understood that the covenant in this Section 12(b) does not apply to any right Mr. Crate may have to file a charge with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (the “EEOC”) or similar agency or otherwise participate in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the EEOC or
similar agency or as otherwise prohibited by law.

 
(c)           Mr. Crate agrees that, within five days following the Resignation Date, he will execute and provide to the Company and not revoke

an original Release of Claims in the form appended hereto as Exhibit A.  Mr. Crate agrees that, within five days following the termination of his
employment and ongoing advisory services set forth in Section 4 hereof, he will execute and provide to the Company and not revoke an original
Release of Claims in the form appended hereto as Exhibit B.

 
13.           Condition of Obligations.  The performance by the Company of its commitment to provide all of the consideration to Mr. Crate hereunder,

Mr. Crate’s right to receive and retain the same, and Mr. Crate’s continued status as an employee and provider of advisory services shall be expressly
conditioned on Mr. Crate’s fulfillment of all of his obligations in this Agreement, including without limitation those set forth in Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and
12 hereof, and subject to Mr. Crate’s continued employment.  The Company may terminate Mr. Crate’s employment or this Agreement at any time that it
makes such a determination, and any outstanding unvested equity will terminate and be forfeited.

 
14.           Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Company and Mr. Crate with respect to the remainder of

his employment and his advisory services-related arrangements, and supersedes any other contracts or commitments with respect
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to Mr. Crate’s employment with and/or other service to the Company (other than agreements governing any outstanding equity awards).

 



15.           Modification of Agreement.  This Agreement may only be amended, modified or waived by a writing signed by individuals duly authorized
to do so.

 
16.           Miscellaneous.
 

(a)           It is agreed and understood that this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties’ successors and assigns.
 
(b)           In order to be certain that this Agreement will resolve any and all concerns that Mr. Crate might have, the Company requests that

he carefully consider its terms, including the general release of claims set forth above.  For a period of seven (7) days following his execution of this
Agreement, Mr. Crate may revoke his acceptance hereof as to the release of claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, and this
Agreement shall not become effective or enforceable as to the release of such claims until after that seven-day revocation period has expired.

 
(c)           In signing this Agreement, Mr. Crate acknowledges that he understands its provisions; that his agreement is knowing and

voluntary; that he has been afforded a full and reasonable opportunity of at least twenty-one (21) days to consider its terms and consult with or seek
advice from an attorney of his choosing; and that he has been advised to seek counsel from an attorney and has in fact done so.

 
(d)           This Agreement shall take effect on the eighth (8th) day following the later to occur of Mr. Crate’s execution hereof and the

approval of the Agreement by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Effective Date”), provided Mr. Crate has not earlier revoked his acceptance of
the Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 16(c) above.

 
(e)           The parties’ substantive and procedural rights with respect to this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth

of Massachusetts, without resort to choice of law or conflict of law principles.
 
(f)            The headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, and will not affect the construction of any provision hereof.
 
(g)           This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and which together shall

be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
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ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:

 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:
   
Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.

 

Darrell W. Crate
   
    
/s/ John Kingston, III

 

By: /s/ Darrell W. Crate
John Kingston, III

  
 

     
Dated: February 1, 2011

 

Dated: February 1, 2011
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EXHIBIT A

 
RELEASE OF CLAIMS

 
FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF the benefits to be provided me in connection with my continued employment, as set forth in the agreement

between me and Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company”) dated as of the Effective Date (the “Agreement”), which are conditioned on my signing
this Release of Claims and to which I am not otherwise entitled, on my own behalf and on behalf of my heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries,
representatives and assigns, and all others connected with or claiming through me, I hereby release and forever discharge the Company, its subsidiaries and
other Affiliates and all of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, trustees, shareholders, employees, agents, general and limited partners,
members, managers, joint venturers, employee benefit plans, representatives, successors and assigns, and all others connected with any of them, both
individually and in their official capacities, from any and all causes of action, rights or claims of any type or description, known or unknown, which I have
had in the past, now have, or might now have, through the date of my signing of this Release of Claims, in any way resulting from, arising out of or connected
with my officerships and directorships of the Company and any of its subsidiaries and Affiliates, or my employment by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or other Affiliates through the date of my signing of this Release of claims, or pursuant to any federal, state or local law, regulation or other requirement
(including without limitation Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and
Chapter 151B of the Massachusetts General Laws, each as amended from time to time).
 
Excluded from the scope of this Release of Claims is (i) any claim arising in connection with my continued employment after the effective date of this
Release of Claims; (ii) any claim arising under the terms of the Agreement after the effective date of this Release of Claims; and (iii) any right of
indemnification or contribution that I have pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws or insurance policies of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or other Affiliates.
 
In signing this Release of Claims, I acknowledge that I am advised by the Company and its subsidiaries and other Affiliates to seek the advice of an attorney
prior to signing this Release of Claims; that I have had sufficient time to consider this Release of Claims and to consult with an attorney, if I wished to do so,
or to consult with any other person of my choosing before signing; and that I am signing this Release of Claims voluntarily and with a full understanding of
its terms.
 
I further acknowledge that, in signing this Release of Claims, I have not relied on any promises or representations, express or implied, that are not set forth
expressly in the Agreement.  I understand that I may revoke this Release of Claims at any time by delivering written notice thereof to the General Counsel of



the Company within seven (7) days of the date of my signing, and that this Release of Claims will take effect only upon the expiration of such seven-day
revocation period and only if I have not timely revoked it.
 

 
Intending to be legally bound, I have signed this Release of Claims under seal as of the date written below.
 
Signature: /s/ Darrell W. Crate

 

   
Name (please print): Darrell W. Crate

 

   
Date Signed: February 1, 2011

 

 

 
EXHIBIT B

 
RELEASE OF CLAIMS

 
FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF the benefits to be provided me in connection with the termination of my employment, as set forth in the

agreement between me and Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company”) dated as of                                                (the “Agreement”), which are
conditioned on my signing this Release of Claims and to which I am not otherwise entitled, on my own behalf and on behalf of my heirs, executors,
administrators, beneficiaries, representatives and assigns, and all others connected with or claiming through me, I hereby release and forever discharge the
Company, its subsidiaries and other Affiliates and all of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, trustees, shareholders, employees, agents,
general and limited partners, members, managers, joint venturers, employee benefit plans, representatives, successors and assigns, and all others connected
with any of them, both individually and in their official capacities, from any and all causes of action, rights or claims of any type or description, known or
unknown, which I have had in the past, now have, or might now have, through the date of my signing of this Release of Claims, in any way resulting from,
arising out of or connected with my employment by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or other Affiliates or the termination of that employment, or
pursuant to any federal, state or local law, regulation or other requirement (including without limitation Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and Chapter 151B of the Massachusetts General Laws, each as amended from time
to time).
 
Excluded from the scope of this Release of Claims is (i) any claim arising under the terms of the Agreement after the effective date of this Release of Claims
and (ii) any right of indemnification or contribution that I have pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws or insurance policies of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or other Affiliates.
 
In signing this Release of Claims, I acknowledge my understanding that I may not sign it prior to the termination of my employment, but that I may consider
the terms of this Release of Claims for up to twenty-one (21) days from the later of the date my employment with the Company terminates or the date I
receive this Release of Claims.  I also acknowledge that I am advised by the Company and its subsidiaries and other Affiliates to seek the advice of an
attorney prior to signing this Release of Claims; that I have had sufficient time to consider this Release of Claims and to consult with an attorney, if I wished
to do so, or to consult with any other person of my choosing before signing; and that I am signing this Release of Claims voluntarily and with a full
understanding of its terms.
 
I further acknowledge that, in signing this Release of Claims, I have not relied on any promises or representations, express or implied, that are not set forth
expressly in the Agreement.  I understand that I may revoke this Release of Claims at any time by delivering written notice thereof to the General Counsel of
the Company within seven (7) days of the date of my signing, and that this Release of Claims will take effect only upon the expiration of such seven-day
revocation period and only if I have not timely revoked it.

 

 
Intending to be legally bound, I have signed this Release of Claims under seal as of the date written below.
 
Signature:

  

   
Name (please print):

  

   
Date Signed:
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sean M. Healey, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2011

  

/s/ SEAN M. HEALEY

Sean M. Healey
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jay C. Horgen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2011

  

/s/ JAY C. HORGEN

Jay C. Horgen
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

        In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended March 31, 2011, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Sean M. Healey, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 10, 2011

  

By:  /s/ SEAN M. HEALEY

Sean M. Healey
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

        In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended March 31, 2011, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Jay C. Horgen, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 10, 2011

  

By:  /s/ JAY C. HORGEN

Jay C. Horgen
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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